Y,

» o

|
» CITY OF

YORK

COUNCIL

Notice of a public meeting of
Personalisation Scrutiny Review Task Group

To: Councillors Funnell (Chair), Doughty and Jeffries

Date: Wednesday, 18 September 2013

Time: 4.00 pm

Venue: The King Richard Il Room (GO49) - West Offices
AGENDA

1. Declarations of Interest
At this point in the meeting, Members are asked to declare:

e any personal interests not included on the Register of
Interests

e any prejudicial interests or

e any disclosable pecuniary interests

which they may have in respect of business on this agenda.

2. Public Participation
At this pointing the meeting, members of the public who have
registered their wish to speak regarding an item on the agenda or
an issue within the Committee’s remit can do so. The deadline for
registering is 5:00pm on Tuesday 17" September 2013.

3. Draft Interim Report - Personalisation (Pages 3 - 64)
Scrutiny Review.
This report sets out the findings to date and highlights some
emerging trends arising from the personalisation scrutiny review,
from which the Task Group is asked to begin formulating some
recommendations.

www.york.gov.uk



4. Urgent Business
Any other business which the Chair considers urgent under the
Local Government Act 1972

Democracy Officer:

Name: Laura Bootland
Contact Details:
e Telephone — (01904) 552062

e E-mail — laura.bootland@york.gov.uk

For more information about any of the following please contact the
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting:

Registering to speak
Written Representations
Business of the meeting
Any special arrangements
Copies of reports




Page 1 Agenda Annex

About City of York Council Meetings

Would you like to speak at this meeting?
If you would, you will need to:

e register by contacting the Democracy Officer (whose name and
contact details can be found on the agenda for the meeting) no
later than 5.00 pm on the last working day before the meeting;

e ensure that what you want to say speak relates to an item of
business on the agenda or an issue which the committee has
power to consider (speak to the Democracy Officer for advice
on this);

e find out about the rules for public speaking from the Democracy
Officer.

A leaflet on public participation is available on the Council’s
website or from Democratic Services by telephoning York
(01904) 551088

Further information about what’s being discussed at this
meeting

All the reports which Members will be considering are available for
viewing online on the Council’'s website. Alternatively, copies of
individual reports or the full agenda are available from Democratic
Services. Contact the Democracy Officer whose name and contact
details are given on the agenda for the meeting. Please note a
small charge may be made for full copies of the agenda
requested to cover administration costs.

Access Arrangements

We will make every effort to make the meeting accessible to you.
The meeting will usually be held in a wheelchair accessible venue
with an induction hearing loop. We can provide the agenda or
reports in large print, electronically (computer disk or by email), in
Braille or on audio tape. Some formats will take longer than others
so please give as much notice as possible (at least 48 hours for
Braille or audio tape).

If you have any further access requirements such as parking close-
by or a sign language interpreter then please let us know. Contact
the Democracy Officer whose name and contact details are given
on the order of business for the meeting.

Every effort will also be made to make information available in
another language, either by providing translated information or an



Page 2

interpreter providing sufficient advance notice is given. Telephone
York (01904) 551550 for this service.

T AR TSt (AT ST 2 SR O (FI O[T T ST G 7 4AUd (OB T TE, I S W
T O] I I ORI T U TS (RIS} AR 4 7T | G  (01904) 551 550 |

Yeteri kadar dnceden haber verilmesi kosuluyla, bilgilerin terGimesini hazirlatmalk ya da
bir terctiman bulmak i¢cin mimkin olan hersey yapilacaktir. Tel: (01904) 551 550

S HEREHNEAREE TR IAE - EE R RERRTEA B - ik
IR, B|3S (01904) 551 550,

(01904) 551 550@5Jf-ﬁufgﬁf@g‘f‘L{u,z;mwrr;q.(jgd:clw!f_d,%wﬁ

Informacja mozie by¢ dostepna w tumaczeniu, jesli dostaniemy zapotrzebowanie z
wystarczajacym wyprzedzeniem. Tel: (01904) 551 550

Holding the Cabinet to Account

The majority of councillors are not appointed to the Cabinet (39 out
of 47). Any 3 non-Cabinet councillors can ‘call-in’ an item of
business following a Cabinet meeting or publication of a Cabinet
Member decision. A specially convened Corporate and Scrutiny
Management Committee (CSMC) will then make its
recommendations to the next scheduled Cabinet meeting, where a
final decision on the ‘called-in’ business will be made.

Scrutiny Committees
The purpose of all scrutiny and ad-hoc scrutiny committees
appointed by the Council is to:
e Monitor the performance and effectiveness of services;
e Review existing policies and assist in the development of new
ones, as necessary; and
e Monitor best value continuous service improvement plans

Who Gets Agenda and Reports for our Meetings?

e Councillors get copies of all agenda and reports for the
committees to which they are appointed by the Council;

e Relevant Council Officers get copies of relevant agenda and
reports for the committees which they report to;

e York Explore Library and the Press receive copies of all public
agenda/reports;

e All public agenda/reports can also be accessed online at other
public libraries using this link
http://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1




Page 3 Agenda ltem 3

3
<2 city OF

YORK

g COUNCIL

Personalisation Task Group 18 September 2013

Report of the Personalisation Scrutiny Review Task Group

Draft Interim Report — Personalisation Scrutiny Review
Summary

This report sets out the findings to date and highlights some
emerging trends arising from the review, from which the Task
Group is asked to begin formulating some recommendations.

Background

2.  The idea of doing some work around Personalisation had been an
ongoing aim of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for
some time, issues around take up and administration of personal
budgets having been raised on several occasions at various
meetings of the Committee. The topic was put forward as a
suggestion at the Scrutiny Work Planning event in May 2012.

3.  The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered a
briefing note on this topic at their meeting on 23 July 2012. This is
attached at Annex A to this report. They chose to proceed with
the review and appointed a three member Task Group' to
undertake the work. Their first task was to set a remit for the work.

4.  The Task Group met to set a remit on 13 November 2012. To
assist them they invited the Assistant Director of Assessment and
Safeguarding and the Group Manager at City of York Council,
Councillor Jeffries as Co-Chair of the Independent Living Network
and the Chief Executive at York Mind to the meeting.

5.  The Task Group again considered the information at Annex A
and also some additional information from the Assistant Director
of Assessment and Safeguarding as follows:

' The Task Group was comprised of Councillors Funnell (Chair), Doughty and
Cuthbertson



Page 4

e Think Local Act Personal — Making it Real (marking progress
towards personalised, community-based support) — Annex B

e Think Local Act Personal — Making sure personal budgets work
for older people — Annex C

6. These documents are part of the Think Local Act Personal
programme which is a sector wide commitment to transform adult
social care through personalisation and community based
support. Among other things it provides statements about what
should be in place to make personalisation work. York is not
currently signed up to the programme but has committed to work
towards the same goals.

7. The Task Group and other invitees discussed this information, in
particular that the main premise of Making it Real was co-
production?. They particularly highlighted the ten markers set out
on page 5 of Annex B and were especially glad to note that while
York was not formally signed up to the Making it Real Programme
it was still committed to delivering on the ten markers.

8. It was acknowledged that there was a need to change the way
services were delivered and communities and individuals needed
to be much more involved in deciding what was best for them. A
significant number of people were now living with long term
conditions and at the moment much of the energy and spend was
channelled into the medicine linked with these rather than into
social care/living.

9. The Task Group felt that any remit needed to explore how well
personalisation was being rolled out in York, what was working,
what was not working and what an individual's experiences were.
They also acknowledged that personalisation was a very wide
reaching agenda with many strands; it was not just about personal
budgets. It included:

e Information and advice (having the information | need when |
need it)

e Active and supportive communities (keeping friend, family and
place)

% Co-production means delivering public services in an equal and reciprocal
relationship between professionals, people using services, their families and their
neighbours. Where activities are co-produced in this way, both services and
neighbourhoods become far more effective agents of change



10.

11.

12.

13.

Page 5

e Flexible integrated care and support (my support, my own
way)

e \Workforce (my support staff)

e Risk enablement (feeling in control and safe)

e Personal budgets and self funding (my money)

Taking all information to date into consideration the Task Group
set the following remit:

Aim

To review, with key partners in the city, areas of strength and
areas for development around Personalisation to enable people to
exercise as much choice and control over their lives as possible.

Key Objectives

i. To bring together residents and service and support providers,
in a workshop environment, to identify the areas of strength
and weakness in City of York Council’s current approach to
personalisation

ii. And from the above to ultimately identify key priorities for the
city around Personalisation to make improvements on.

This remit was subsequently reported back to and agreed by the
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee at their meeting on 19"
December 2012. The Task Group’s request to use an
independent facilitator to help them with this review, particularly in
terms of planning and running the workshop mentioned in key
objective (i) of the remit was also approved.

Setting the Scene

What is Personalisation?

The Community Care website® describes personalisation as being
a social care approach defined by the Department of Health as
meaning that “every person who received support, whether
provided by statutory services or funded by themselves, will have
choice and control over the shape of that support in all care
setting”

swww.CommunityCare.co.uk




14.

15.

16.

Page 6

While it is often associated with direct payments and personal
budgets, under which service users can choose the services that
they receive, personalisation is also about ensuring that services
are tailored to the needs of every individual, rather than delivered
in a one size fits all fashion. It also encompasses the provision of
improved information and advice on care and support for families,
investment in preventative services to reduce or delay people’s
need for care and the promotion of independence and self-
reliance among individuals and communities. As such,
personalisation has significant implications for everyone involved
in the social care sector.’

The Task Group initially spoke about what they ultimately hoped
to achieve from this review and responses included transformation
of service delivery, to push personalisation and what it can offer to
those with mental health issues, improvements for the residents of
the city, a multi-disciplinary and partnership approach to service
delivery, creative and innovative ways of working, establishing a
solid base to work from and build upon, finding a common
language and joining things up to provide a seamless service,
maximising the choice and control York residents have over their
lives in a challenging financial environment and to help people to
understand that personalisation is not just about direct payments.
This means that personal budget holders have control over the
way their money is spent, so they can plan their own lives but still
receive the support they need to manage their money and decide
how best they can live their lives

Achieving the Objectives

The Task Group set about the work of achieving its stated
objectives, firstly it considered how to meet the first objective:

‘To bring together residents and service and support providers, in
a workshop environment, to identify the areas of strength and
weakness in City of York Council’s current approach to
personalisation’

The Group chose to bring all these people together in two
workshops for the dual purpose of ‘bringing people with common
interests together’ and to help identify what was good and bad in
our current approach. They met on 17 January 2013 to plan these
workshops with the involvement of the following:



17.

18.

19.

20.

Page 7

e Councillor Jeffries — Co-Chair of the Independent Living
Network

David Smith — Chief Executive York Mind

George Wood — York Old People’s Assembly

Sian Balsom — York HealthWatch

Tricia Nicoll — Independent facilitator

The independent facilitator appointed for the workshops
suggested that the themes the Task Group had identified
complemented the markers for change set out within the Making it
Real document at Annex B to this report and it was agreed that
she would develop a workshop using the key themes and criteria
from this document.

Further discussion led to the suggestion that two shorter
workshops at different times of the day might be more suitable
and maximise attendance. These were subsequently arranged for
1pm to 3pm and 4.30pm to 6.30pm on Tuesday 23" April 2013
and were held at the Council’s Headquarters at West Offices.

The Workshops

The notes from both workshops are attached at Annex D and
these set out clearly how the workshops were conducted around
the Making It Real themes and identified what was working well
and what not. It should always be remembered that the
workshops were averagely well to poorly attended and therefore
were not necessarily a truly representative sample of opinion on
the success of personal budgets: Nonetheless, these workshops
provided an opportunity for people using the services and for
family carers in York to share their experiences.

Discussions at the workshops took place around 6 categories:
(1) Information;
(2
(3
(
(

o

Community;

p—

Choosing my support;
4

p—

Support staff;

5) Feeling in control & safe; and



Page 8

(6) Money

The workshop sessions included small groups considering these
themes and recording what was working well in York and what
was not working so well. These revealed:

Information

e Working well - 8 comments. Community facilitators were said to
be a good source of information as were other service users

e Not working well - 24 comments. There was concern about how
to get information on little things, such as putting on a coat.
Access to information was said to be limited and there was a need
to know where to look for information.

Community

e \Working well - 10 comments. People said they were able to live
independently with access to family and friends. They had a
feeling of being in control

e Not working well - 15 comments. There were feelings of social
isolation, not helped by “poor” transport links. While peer support
was valuable it was not enough and more needed to be done by
community networks. There was also concern that not enough
was being done to open up employment opportunities.

iii) Choosing my support

e \Working well - 12 comments. This was said to be a good way to
promote a sense of value. People liked the idea of being in control
of their support.

e Not working well - 21 comments. There were concerns as to
whether the service was flexible enough. The process of getting
support was frustrating and challenging and would only work with
the support of family and friends. It was felt there was too much
pressure on care managers to work quickly rather than well.

Support staff

e Working well - 6 comments. Staff employed directly were more
flexible and the Independent Living Scheme helped get support as
and when needed.



22.

Page 9

e Not working well - 9 comments. The most critical comment was
“Washed ... Fed ... You're done!” Older people felt constrained by
the shift patterns of home care staff. Peer support was said to be
lacking in York while there was little support on employment
issues.

Feeling in control and safe

e Working well - 3 comments. Being in control was said to be
about being ordinary and sometimes things did no wrong.

e Not working well - 10 comments. Some said they did not feel
safe in their community. A lack of control over shared spaces in
residential care meant not feeling at home.

Money

e Working well - 2 comments. It gave people independence over
their budgets.

e Not working well - 18 comments. There was a feeling this was a
fight, not a right. There were concerns about contributions to
budgets and that debts were not taken into account. Some were
worried that the service was not flexible enough to respond to
changes in buying services and that block contracts were too
rigid.

At the end of each workshop, participants were asked to suggest
what needed to change to make things better and this is what the
majority concluded:

e That care managers be kept up to date with personal budgets
and they are allowed responsibility and flexibility;

¢ A need for more investment in and training for support staff;
¢ An honest, open assessment process that people understood;
e More creative use of volunteers to tackle social isolation;

e Ensuring social services staff understood about Personalisation;

e That care agencies should be given contracts based on quality
care, not just the cheapest;



23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

Page 10

e That information was accessible.

Having gathered some evidence from services users and carers
and brought them together to share experiences, the Task Group
then looked at other significant data to help it achieve its second
objective:

‘to ultimately identify key priorities for the city around
Personalisation to make improvements on.’

The POET Survey

The POET (Personal Outcomes and Evaluation Tool) survey is a
tool commissioned by City of York Council to provide data
collected from personal budget holders in the area. It compares
numerical responses of personal budget holders to the survey in
this area to those from other budget holders in other parts of
England. The outcomes are attached at Annex E to this report.

Again, it should be noted that in total only 34 personal budget
holders in the city completed the survey (200 people who had
access to a personal budget to fund their social care support were
contacted and invited to take part out of a total of 1,566 eligible in
the city). So, it is difficult to argue with complete certainty that the
responses given are truly representative of all personal budget
holders in the area. Nonetheless, it is possible to identify some
key learning points for the future. Equally, it is arguable that the
low response rate to the survey and the workshops could reflect
some concerns around ‘accessibility to information’ identified as a
potential area of improvement through the workshops.

In the survey, the data attached for York is benchmarked against
the responses of 1,114 personal budget holders throughout
England.

It is clear to see that some similarities have emerged between
York and national responses, eg the vast majority of personal
budget holders both in York and nationally felt their views were
very much or mostly included in their support plan and that people
who felt their views were more fully included in their support plan
were more likely to report positive outcomes across all 14
outcomes domains.



Page 11

28. From the Poet Survey, the Task Group were able to identify the
following trends for York personal budget holders:

29.

At least 60% of personal budget holders in the City of York
reported that their personal budget had made a positive
difference to them in nine of the 14 outcome areas they were
asked about - dignity in support, mental wellbeing, getting the
support you need, feeling safe, staying independent, control of
support, physical health, control of important things in life and
relationships with paid support.

A majority of personal budget holders in the City of York
reported that personal budgets had made no difference in four
areas of life: getting a paid job, being part of local community,
where or who you live with and relationships with friends.
However, generally less than 12% of personal budget holders in
the City of York reported a negative impact of personal budgets
in any of these areas of life.

York was below the “made things better” national average in
relationships with friends; relationships with family and dignity in
support but above the national average in relationships with
paid support; feeling safe; getting support; control of support;
staying independent; control of important things and physical
health.

Just over two thirds of the personal budget recipients in York
(68%) said they had been told the amount of money in their
personal budget, a lower figure than personal budget holders in
other parts of England (77%).

Other Information Gathered

The Task Group also received details of the Council’s public
accessible leaflets ‘My Life My Choice’ explaining the
personalisation approach in York.

http://www.york.gov.uk/site/scripts/google results.aspx?qg=my+life+my

+choice+leaflets

30.

Members were keen to establish whether the information the
Council provided on personalisation was provided and presented



31.

32.

33.

Page 12

in an appropriate way to the maximum benefit of service users
and carers.

Pursuant to their concerns that the information should presented
in the right way, Members discussed keeping the language used
as simple as possible and in that regard had reference to Social
Care Jargon Buster, a summary of the 52 most commonly used
social care words and phrases and what they mean, produced by
the Social Care Institute for Excellence (Annex F).

Emerging Trends
From the survey it is evident that:

e A majority of personal budget holders in York felt the council
had made things easy for them in six of the nine aspects of the
personal budget process in the survey - getting advice and
support, assessing needs, understanding restrictions, control of
money, planning and managing support, and making views
known and making a complaint.

e As was the case nationally, the areas that York respondents
were least likely to report as easy was choosing different
services.

¢ In only one of the nine areas - getting the support wanted -
were personal budget holders in York less likely than people
elsewhere to report that the council made the process easy.

¢ In some areas York had both a higher number of people
reporting good outcomes and a higher number reporting a
worse outcome, suggesting that we have some good practice,
but this is not consistent i.e. Easy to complain and difficult to
complain; Easy to plan and manage support and difficult to plan
and manage support

From the workshops held, the maijority of attendees expressed
concerns around the following:

e That care managers be kept up to date with personal budgets
and they are allowed responsibility and flexibility;

¢ A need for more investment in and training for support staff;



34.

35.

(ii)

Page 13

e An honest, open assessment process that people understood;
e More creative use of volunteers to tackle social isolation;

e Ensuring social services staff understood about
Personalisation;

e That care agencies should be given contracts based on quality
care, not just the cheapest;

e That information was accessible.
In relation to the following:
e Ensuring social services staff understood about Personalisation;

e That information was accessible

Members have, so far, looked at the information provided on its
website by the Council and at the Social Care Jargon Buster as
identified in paragraph 31 above.

Consultation

As part of its review to date, the Task Group has ensured that it
has co-opted a wide range of organisations to widen its
understanding of the impact of the personalisation agenda and to
secure the widest possible consultation and views. As can be
evidenced by the Workshops set out in paragraphs 19-22 above,
the Task Group undertook further detailed consultation of service
users and carers.

Options
Members can choose to:

Advise Officers what additional information, if any, is now required
in order to further evidence some emerging trends in relation to
improving the Council’s current approach to personalisation; or

Begin formulating some recommendations, identifying key
priorities for the Council in dealing with and embedding the
personalisation agenda within York.



36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

Page 14

Council Plan

This review is directly linked to the Protect Vulnerable People
element of the Council Plan 2011-2015.

Implications

Any implications associated with any recommendations that the
Task Group chooses to make in some key priority areas for
developing the Council’s approach to personalisation will be
identified in the Task Group’s final report, once those
recommendations have been formulated.

Risk Management

There are no risks associated with the recommendations in this
interim report. However, any risks which may potentially arise
from any recommendations to be made by the Task Group will be
identified in the final report to Members.

Summary Conclusions To Date

In some areas York had both a higher number of people reporting
good outcomes and a higher number reporting a worse outcome,
suggesting that we have some good practice, but this is not
consistent.

Although the number of people at the workshops was low, several
conclusions emerged that are identified in paragraph 22, which
Members may wish to consider further when identifying priorities
in the future.

Concerns were expressed about the provision of information and
the language used.

Recommendations

The Task Group is asked to note the interim report and consider
whether it is in a position to formulate some recommendations
arising from the review or to identify what further information is
now required to proceed.



Page 15

Reason: To enable the review to proceed in accordance with
scrutiny processes

Contact Details

Author: Chief Officer Responsible for the
report:
Dawn Steel Andy Docherty

Head of Civic & Democratic AD Governance and ICT
Services

Tel 01904 551030 Report
dawn.steel@york.gov.uk Approved

Date 9 Sept 2013

Steve Entwistle
Scrutiny Officer
Tel 01904 554279

steven.entwistle@york.gov.uk

Wards Affected: All |7

For further information please contact the author of the report
Background Papers: None

Annexes

Annex A: Briefing paper for Personalisation topic

Annex B: Think Local Act Personal — Making It Real

Annex C: Think Local Act Personal — Making sure personal budgets
work for older people

Annex D: Summary of Personalisation workshops

Annex E: Poets Survey

Annex F: Social Care Jargon Buster



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 17
Annex A

Briefing paper for potential scrutiny topic - Personalisation
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 23™ July 2012
Background

Personalisation aims to shift to a position where as many people as
possible are supported to stay healthy and actively involved in their
communities for longer and for those that do need help to have
maximum choice and control.

Putting People First looked at four elements: information and advice;
prevention and early intervention; personal budgets and choice and
control and market development.

Think Local Act Personal focuses on customer focused outcomes, lean
processes, building community supports and increasing Direct Payments

What is already happening in York

Information and advice We are in the top quartile of outcome data for
2011-12, benchmarked with our regional and comparator authorities, on
the proportion of people who use services and carers who say they find
it easy to find information about services. We have increased capacity
in our ACE Customer Contact Worker team and commissioned Age UK’s
First Call 50+ service. We have a web based self assessment tool for
simple equipment and are developing our web based information.

Early intervention and prevention. Telecare use is increasing with 1800
people now using telecare sensors in their homes. Reablement home
care has been provided since 2006 and the new provider is now
increasing capacity. We are working with health colleagues to develop
Neighborhood Care Teams to deliver more care in the community.

Personal budgets and increasing Direct payments We know we are not
offering enough people a personal budget and we know that, as many
other authorities, we have a low number of people who then choose to
take a direct payment. However we are in the top quartile for customer
reported outcomes for the proportion of people who use services who
say they have control over their daily life. We are in the process of
introducing a new Resource Allocation Tool to give people a clearer and
more accurate idea of what resources they may have available to plan




Page 18
Annex A

their support. We are changing the way we show the costs of support for
customers for whom we still commission support to be more like the
personal accounts that people with Direct Payment use. Generally
many customers still seem to prefer the Council to arrange their support
so we need to find ways that allow more choice and control without
people feeling burdened with the task. Take up of personal budgets is
particularly low in mental health services, where most of our budgets are
invested in in-house services or residential care.

Market development and building community capacity Council wide
programmes such as the Ageing Well programme and Dementia
Without Walls led by Joseph Rowntree Foundation are helping to identify
what we can do as a city to support people live independently for longer.
We have two part time Community Facilitator posts. We have supported
the establishment of York Independent Living Network and an
independent carers’ centre and we have supported and encouraged
collaborative working in the voluntary sector. We will introduce a regional
e-market place website next year, to help people find and buy support.

Measuring customer outcomes We have not formally signed up to
Making it Real, but will be using the markers to shape our Annual
Account.

Lean processes Care management processes were reviewed and
redesigned last year. This is broadly in line with the Think Local Act
personal model for workflow with a focus on signposting and
reablement. There is still work continuing to improve our workflows.

Value that Scrutiny might be able to offer

Exploring the barriers, or concerns, that discourage people from taking a
Direct Payment. Are there other ways people would be able to take
more control if they do not want a Direct Payment?

Are there ways we can develop a more personalised approach in mental
health services when most of our resources are tied up and not available
for use as Direct Payments.

Kathy Clark

Interim Assistant Director Assessment and Safeguarding



Page 19

R think local
o@ act personal

MAKING IT REAL

Marking progress towards
personalised, community
based support.




Page 20

What is Making it Real?

“A truly honestly co-produced product — extremely

good practice”

Bill Davidson member of the National Co-production
Advisory Group and co-chair of Think Local Act Personal

Think Local Act Personal (TLAP) is the sector wide commitment to transform
adult social care through personalisation and community-based support. It
committed over 30 national organisations to work together and to develop,
as one of the key priorities, a set of markers. These markers are being used
to support all those working towards personalisation. This will help
organisations check their progress and decide what they need to do to keep
moving forward to deliver real change and positive outcomes with people.

The result is Making it Real, a framework
developed by the whole Partnership, but
very much led by members of the
National Co-production Advisory Group,
which is made up of people who use
services and carers. This signals a new
phase in which we use a citizen-focussed
agenda to change the kind of
information that the sector values, and
the way in which we judge success.

Making it Real highlights the issues
most important to the quality of
people's lives. It helps the sector take
responsibility for change and publicly
share the progress being made.

Making it Real is built around
“]" statements. These express what
people want to see and experience;
and what they would expect to find
if personalisation is really working

well. We used these statements, for
example, to guide our response to
the government's Caring for Our
Future White Paper and the members
of our Partnership will use it to check
their progress and guide their actions.

What it is not...

Making it Real is not a performance
management tool. Think Local Act
Personal is a voluntary movement for
change - the sector taking on
ownership and responsibility for
personalisation. We think that
councils and organisations will want
to sign up to Making It Real as a
way of helping them to check
and build on their progress with
personalisation, and also as a way of
letting others know how they are

2 MAKING IT REAL Marking progress towards personalised, community—based support



Page 21

doing — especially their local community
and the people they serve.

How will it help?

The markers are a practical tool
grounded in the expectations of
citizens that can be used to develop
business or improvement plans, and
can help with putting together local
accounts from individual services
to wider systems.

Using Making it Real means that
councils, organisations and all partners
can look at their current practice, identify
areas for change and develop plans for
action. It can be wused by any
organisation involved in providing care
and support including councils, providers
of home based support and those
providing residential and nursing care.

Making it Real can also be used
by people who use services and carers
to check out how well their
aspirations are being met. Making it
Real supports co-production with
local commissioners and providers.

Links with the work
of our partners

We are very pleased that the
Association of Directors of Adult
Social Services (ADASS) and key
national service provider groups
have endorsed Making it Real as

part of their membership of the
Think Local, Act Personal Partnership.
They will be encouraging their
own members to make good use of
Making it Real in their work.

The Care Quality Commission have
undertaken a mapping exercise to see
how the markers fit with relevant
essential standards of safety and quality.

The Towards Excellence in Adult Social
Care programme and the ADASS
personalisation policy network have
both endorsed Making it Real and
prioritised its implementation as part
of their support for Think Local Act
Personal in the regions. The Local
Government Association Community
Wellbeing Board have also signed up
to Making it Real.

The Department of Health have also
declared their intention that the work
on Making it Real will complement
and inform the development of
their  Outcomes Framework -
ensuring that citizen experience and
sector leadership is central.

Across the country, TLAP Partner
organisations have led self-organised
events and meetings to ensure that
Making it Real is shared at a national,
regional and local level. Strong
connections  with user led
organisations, including the DPULO
Ambassadors are being continuously
developed to ensure Making it Real is
fully co-produced.

MAKING IT REAL Marking progress towards personalised, community-based support 3



Page 22

What does it mean
for you?

Following a short period of testing
with different kinds of organisations
from various parts of the sector,
everyone involved in social care has
been invited to:

e declare a commitment to use
the markers, and to

e publicly share actions they will
be taking to make progress
towards achieving them.

A web-based process has been
developed to enable organisations
to publicly declare their commitment
to Making it Real. This will also
help them to co-produce action
plans with people who use services,
carers and citizens so that the
delivery of personalisation in social
care can be improved.

Not all the markers will be relevant to
all, so organisations are encouraged
to sign up to the ones that are
the most meaningful for the people
who use their services.

If you sign up to report on your action
plan and progress, you will also be
authorised to display the Think Local,
Act Personal logo as a signal that you
are fully committed to moving
forward with personalisation.

What's next?

Since the official launch of Making it
Real at Community Care Live in May
2012, organisations have been able
to sign up and declare a commitment
to personalising social care, and using
Making it Real to report on the
progress being made.

To get involved, register your details
on the Making it Real website
www.think localactpersonal.org.uk/
Browse/mir.

The website also includes a range of
support materials, easy read and large
print versions of documents, case
studies, films and examples of
Making it Real action plans.

What will happen to
the information?

The key to Making it Real is that
progress is reported publicly — most
importantly for your local community
and the people who use vyour
services.

We will use this information and
information from other sources to
build a national picture of progress
and the challenges requiring action.

For more information please visit:
www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk

4 MAKING IT REAL Marking progress towards personalised, community-based support



Page 23

Marking progress towards
nersonalised, community-
nased support

To demonstrate commitment to personalisation and community
based support, we invite councils, sector organisations and groups
to sign up to Think Local, Act Personal’s Making it Real markers.
This means a commitment to:

e Ensuring people have real control
over the resources used to secure
care and support.

e Demonstrating the difference being
made to someone’s life through
open, transparent and independent
processes.

e Actively engaging local communities
and partners, including people who
use services and carers in the co-
design, development, commissioning,
delivery and review of local support.

e Ensuring that leaders at every level
of the organisation work towards a
genuine shift in attitudes and
culture, as well as systems.

e Seeking solutions that actively plan to
avoid or overcome crisis and focus on
people  within  their natural
communities, rather than inside
service and organisational boundaries.

e Enabling people to develop

networks of support in their
local communities and to increase
community connections.

Taking time to listen to a
person’s own voice, particularly
those whose views are not easily
heard.

Fully consider and understand
the needs of families and carers
when planning support and care,
including young carers.

Ensuring that support is culturally
sensitive and relevant to diverse
communities across age, gender,
religion, race, sexual orientation
and disability.

Taking into account a person’s
whole life, including physical,
mental, emotional and spiritual
needs.

MAKING IT REAL Marking progress towards personalised, community-based support 5



WHAT | WANT...

IN PRACTICE...

Page 24

Marking Progress —
Key Themes and Criteria

statements include people who use services, including self-funders and carers.

1) Information and Advice: having the information | need, when | need it

“l have the information and support | need in order to remain as
independent as possible.”

“| have access to easy-to-understand information about care and support
which is consistent, accurate, accessible and up to date.”

“| can speak to people who know something about care and support and
can make things happen.”

“| have help to make informed choices if | need and want it.”

“| know where to get information about what is going on in my community.”

e Trusted information sources, are established and maintained that are accurate,
free at the point of delivery, and linked to local and community information
sources.

e Skilled and culturally sensitive advisory services are available to help people
access support, and to think through support to think through their options
and secure solutions.

e A range of information sources are made available to meet individual
communication needs, inluding the use of interactive technology which
encourage an active dialogue and empower individuals to make their own choices.

e Local advice and support includes user led organisations, disabled people’s and
carer's organisations, self advocacy and peer support.

e Local, consistent information and support that relates to legislation around
recruitment, employment and management of personal assistants and other
personal staff is available.

6 MAKING IT REAL Marking progress towards personalised, community—based support



WHAT | WANT...

IN PRACTICE...

Page 25

2) Active and supportive communities: keeping friends, family and place

“| have access to a range of support that helps me to live the life | want
and remain a contributing member of my community.”

“| have a network of people who support me — carers, family, friends,
community and if needed paid support staff.”

“I have opportunities to train, study, work or engage in activities that
match my interests, skills, abilities.”

“| feel welcomed and included in my local community.”

“| feel valued for the contribution that | can make to my community.”

e People are supported to access a range of networks, relationships and
activities to maximise independence, health and well-being and community
connections (including public health).

e There is investment in community activity and community based care and
support which involves and is contributed to by people who use services, their
families and carers.

e Effective programmes are available that maximise people’s health and well-
being and enable them to recover and stay well.

e Longer term community
support and not just
immediate crisis IS
considered and planned
for. A shift in resources
towards supportive
community  activity is
apparent.

e Systems and organisational
culture  support  both
people and carers to
achieve  and  sustain
employment if they are
able to work.

MAKING IT REAL Marking progress towards personalised, community—based support 7



WHAT | WANT...

IN PRACTICE...

Page 26

3) Flexible integrated care and support: my support, my own way
“l am in control of planning my care and support.”

“I have care and support that is directed by me and responsive
to my needs.”

“My support is coordinated, co-operative and works well together and
I know who to contact to get things changed.”

“| have a clear line of communication, action and follow up.”

e People who use services and carers are able to exercise the maximum possible
choice over how they are supported and are able to direct the support
delivered.

e Support is genuinely available across a range of settings — starting with a
person's own home or, where people choose, shared living arrangements or
residential care.

e Processes are streamlined so that access to support is simple, rapid and
proportionate to risk. Assessments are kept to a minimum, are portable, where
possible, and do not cause difficulty or distress.

e People who access support and their carers, know what they are entitled to
and who is responsible for doing what.

e Collaborative relationships are in place at all levels so that organisations work
together to deliver high quality support.

e Support is 'joined-up’, so that people and carers do not experience delays in
accessing support or fall between the gaps, and there are minimal disruptions
when making changes.

e Transition from childhood to adulthood support
services are pre-planned and well managed, so
that support is centred on the individual, rather
than services and organisational boundaries.

e Commissioners and providers of services enable
people who access support to build their
personal, social and support networks.

8 MAKING IT REAL Marking progress towards personalised, community—based support



WHAT | WANT...

IN PRACTICE...

Page 27

4) Workforce: my support staff

“I have good information and advice on the range of options for
choosing my support staff.”

“| have considerate support delivered by competent people.”

“I have access to a pool of people, advice on how to employ
them and the opportunity to get advice from my peers.”

“l am supported by people who help me to make links in my
local community.”

e People who receive direct payments, self-funders and carers are supported in
the recruitment, employment and management of personal assistants and
other personal staff including advice about legal issues. People using council
managed personal budgets have maximum possible influence over choice of
support staff.

e There is development of different kinds of workforce and ways of working,
including new roles for workers who work across health and social care.

o Staff have the values, attitude, motivation, confidence, training, supervision
and tools required to facilitate the outcomes that people who use services and
carers want for themselves.

e The workforce is supported,
respected and valued.

e There are easy and
accessible processes to
enhance security and
safety in the employment
of staff.

e The formal and informal
workforce is increasingly
focused on and able to
help people build and
sustain community
connections.

MAKING IT REAL Marking progress towards personalised, community-based support 9



WHAT | WANT...

IN PRACTICE...

Page 28

5) Risk enablement: feeling in control and safe
“| can plan ahead and keep control in a crisis.”

“| feel safe, | can live the life | want and | am supported to manage
any risks.”

“| feel that my community is a safe place to live and local people
look out for me and each other.”

“| have systems in place so that | can get help at an early stage to
avoid a crisis.”

e People who use services and carers are supported to weigh up risks and
benefits, including planning for problems which may arise.

e Management of risk is proportionate to individual circumstances.
Safeguarding approaches are also proportionate and they are co-ordinated so
that everyone understands their role.

e Where they want and need it, people are supported to manage their personal
budget (or as appropriate
their own money for
purchasing care and support),
and to maximise their
opportunities and manage
risk in a positive way.

e Good information and
advice, including easy ways
of reporting concerns, are
widely available, supported
by public awareness-raising
and accessible literature.

e People who use services
and carers are informed at
the outset about what they
should  expect  from
services and how to raise
any concerns if necessary.

10 MAKING IT REAL Marking progress towards personalised, community—based support



WHAT | WANT...

IN PRACTICE...

Page 29

6) Personal budgets and self-funding: my money

“| can decide the kind of support | need and when, where and how to
receive it”.

“I know the amount of money available to me for care and support
needs, and | can determine how this is used (whether its my own money,
direct payment, or a council managed personal budget).”

“ | can get access to the money quickly without having to go through
over-complicated procedures.”

“l am able to get skilled advice to plan my care and support, and also be
given help to understand costs and make best use of the money
involved where | want and need this.”

e Everyone eligible for on-going council funded support receives this as a
personal budget. Direct payments are the main way of taking a personal
budget and good quality information and advice is available to provide
genuine and maximum choice and control.

e Council managed personal budgets offer genuine opportunities for real self-
direction.

e People who use social care (whether people who use services or carers) are
able to direct the available resource. Processes and restrictions on use of
budget are minimal.

e There is a market of diverse and culturally appropriate support and services
that people who use services and carers can access. People have maximum
choice and control over a range of good value, safe and high quality supports.

e People who use services and carers are given information about options for the
management of their personal budgets, including support through a trust,
voluntary or other organisation.

e Self-funders receive the information and advice that they need and are
supported to have maximum choice and control.

e Councils understand how people are spending their money on care and
support, track the outcomes achieved with people using social care and carers,
and use this information to improve delivery.

MAKING IT REAL Marking progress towards personalised, community-based support 11



Page 30

Think Local, Act Personal is a sector-wide commitment to moving forward with personalisation and community-based
support, endorsed by organisations comprising representatives from across the social care sector including local government,
health, private, independent and community organisations. For a full list of partners visit www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk



Making sure
personal budgets
work for older people

BRIEFING FOR THE NATIONAL CHILDREN'S
& ADULTS SERVICES CONFERENCE

October 2012

sociél careg. o e think |OC8.|
institute for excellence @ aCt persona'




Annex C

Page 32

il

'S3|04 dJeys
0} (0] ajqe aue A3y) 2Jaym) sIaqusw Ajuey
yum Buryiom ale 1o ‘Buuueld poddns
LI 15155€ O] Syiomiau poddns sged pue
sdnolb Ayunwiwod Buisn ae S|IDUNod YLD »
*3NAIBS SIYL JO Stapiaoid mau
awoag o1 suopesivebio sisied Jo palasn
Bupeas Aaanae pue uopauny sbesaxoig
Ji9u) BUSHELISIXS 318 SIDUNGD SWOS «
*s396pnq
Jeuossad jo asn poob ayew pue ueld
o3 a)doad 1o} 1ioddns sjgelns Jo e

*uonewuoyul jo uoisiaoid uo Hn by

21} Lo13s Aejun[oa Yus Burjiom ase 1o

suonesiueblo paj-rasn Yim s18|Jea| pue suy
uoneunoul Bupnpoidos aie S|IUnod JBYID «

*s19bpnq jeuosiad ybnoay) asen

umo Bunaup Joy suondo inoge amysod ale

2]doad J3p|0 Yum SUOIESIDALDD 1511 1BY) OS5

HE1S Y1|eay JaLI0 PUR SISINU 12LNSID S4D
Bunednpa uo Buisndoy aze SPUNed WOS «
201Ape
anilised Buipiaoid sAemie 10U e 5321N05
uoleuwojuy paisnd] "sjuawded alip pue
513b6pnq |euosiad 3o Bulpuelsiapun pue
abpajmouy pajiwny Buipnpu; souepinb
pue BMAPR ‘UOI1eULIOIU] B|GBUNS JO HIeT

‘2Inyn> yels sbueyd dipy o3 suonesjuebiio
P3| 18sn yum bupyiona are 1o abuewp
|ednyyn> yum diay o1 yels synpe 1abunoA
Y 30195 ajdoad sap|o areweb|ewe
01 sweat Buunaniisal ale sjRUNGD 12Y10e
"SIYICM LDECD PUE JOJUDLL
o} siauonned tojuas pafojduws aary
s1ay10 suendo yim adoad sapjo poddns
01 Jje1s 1o} paonpoud sijjooy Jo sapind 3ooj
PNk pue 3duepinb ye1s ansuayarduwod
podo[aasp BABY SHIJUMOD 1UOS »
*JJEIS BUl| JUDY 10} STUILLIESIALL
juaudojaasp pue bujuser) W] wnipaL
pue dnewalsks Buipnpu; wdepe yeis djay o1
pa1usp! uaag aaey saydeoidde o abuer y «
-sanss| puawdojanap aorbeld pue Suurery
‘Jetnypnd Buipnpul sanss] 9203100

ao1oeud ansod Buibisws jo sojdwexa pue sebusjjeyd

‘pajesadnaal pue ‘pasyi Em m>m; Fagyeouo
suondo 13y} JapIsucd oy m_aomn_ a_u_o 104

smo_o:;uﬁ ansISse mc_vSE u«mumg
2a2ead pue sassadosd wwmum anam.._w
01 saibatens Juswa|qe-a JIayED!

s1su3 Buipnaur a1ed e
13PJO YIIYM UIYUIM §B

‘suncoe anaes pabeuew ‘spiex-g
Buipnjpul tuawabeuew Aouow Joy suondao
10 abuel Japim e Buipinoid aie sisylo 194
Bulojuow

[eurul JO) Sapqel auwl bulbueyd

pue sadojpaua pred-aad Bupnponu)
'sabesped poddns 1ajjews 1oy sjpued yum
asuadstp ‘Buif]l} WO} IDNP3IL 0 SMIIAL
swia)sAs burjelspun aJe S[PUNOY YD
“aJ1ApE pue uonewoju ‘buutes) apinosd

01 A1910s s awayz)y 10 3N 9by ay)
suggesiuen o AIRJUn|oA palsrul Yim ApRsopd
Buptom usljo ‘uoddns o s|spout jeuoimpes
uoU pue S3WOIINO INoge Juul 0] paddns
IA1EAI0 papacad DABY SfIZUNOD JLIOS »
*Al|1qisuodsal jo susping

pue sassanoud Bujwnsuod sw Auxajdwed
'saAlIEULa|e Mmau Buthil Jo Jea) ‘adINSS JO
uo|PNpal 1o 550] Jo Jeay ‘stuswaburie
Bunsixa Bupsagaad Guipnpu) suoseas

1oy s1ased qiayy pue ajdoad tapjo
1sbuowe spuswied Paap Ajjenadsa

pue s1abpnq jeuosiad asn o} duePN|SY

L

|euossad e
[B20] juit)

'€85590040
51360107 peucsiad gLiss suCRIESNEE uespubis «
S10aya sanedau papiodar may
A2isu3l pue iAauns 13BENG (BU0siBd |PunnEN
A4} AQ PUNO}) "3l O SEIR 150U Ul S3WODING
SAEISOT ARBIaush Sgd Duriader 5d0ad 104 »

“sucifas
$5030 SIDGWINL JUBWARH 184D W uOEURA
edyis 5 23YL Wedy 5G5S IBPUN 10 Uyl
doad 1300 104 1304%) AUENHLDIS LIBudL
JS3UL NG SluswAed 102up ‘_2 S13GwWn APEHS »
‘5198png [puosiad pabeusut 210w
BiA 483 $2Y SIBQLUNY U1 FEEF2U FUESIUDIC »
PIUNCD O BN Wiy AYjGRUSA
ybiyg Asea yira Ing 180 pue g9 pabe yoosd
19§ 5339Wny Yl 55956010 abeiane Buong «

30 uea ui axgoed an BIaWR JRIDPISUCT
s 2Ry} 1Ry pRIubiylng 03[ ansy 9w IBAIMOH
‘udsyIe anksod e Bunjews 16 A3yl Juspiuey

Buraq ose Apysn s1aguinsu poch Duridiye tenxed
ut pup ~ gidoed iop|c b Slabpng (gunsiad

Bunuawadu u 33Bus)ey> eenpubis fu

318 IS 1841 PAYNLADI TEU MBIARI 3yl ARAnS gy
SOUQY SYI O SuINIE pIUNG) 18 Husiao] wosg

SSUMHUEOD U000 Put PIEQ

“sy0IN|es pue axndeid

2uwisod  Apuapt 0] paLets sey pue ydead 1epn

0} §136pNg [PuosIEd JO uoneIuSWHdUR [AIESIINS

0] sabugjiey) Xay panands sy I 31ep op Ajnr us

LILIS ‘IS WOoK LED YEIBS YIAL ABSOD Dunioan
AL wouy abpanoy uRiely S PAf WSy SIyy

UCHgIeA JDUNGD $5043 BIg
gl pue 3jdosd 135unoA eyl 13p0 204 udsad
SS3] ATIUBLIND BT UDIYM “SIWORNG Ahsod

Ol (23] 1EUL 5101084 Ay} 3O SUDNEDIPUI POODY »

"$IBIET UO UOISSILEIWOD

Burpuels oyl pue Mn 26y 'A19p08 s aWwiayzly "YiesH 0 wuawiedag 'sSyay Wosg

dnoib Bulaals e ylim pue '(J13§) 95ud|(30X7 0L SINKISU| a1e) [e1d0s 3yl sisuned sy

apisbuoie siy1 Buiop si 3 ‘enuswap yum sjdoad Suipnpui sidoad 1ap|e 1oy s1abpng
feuosiad O M3IADI B prdj 01 padube (dyL) |BussIBd PV {8307 Uiy ‘asuodsal uj

“jeuosia4 Bumen eiluawmap
yum ajdoad so4 s3190png jeuosiad uo podal 13yl Ut A18108 saauiayzZ)y Ayl Buipniduy
‘SIBYIC AQ PILLIUSP SINSSE UO JING 353Y ], - PISSIIPPE DG OF PIOU SIADI[IY UCHRIIOLSE

ays 1ey1 sabuajjeyd Jo abuel e payzuap Ay} asnedaq sy pip A3y "spdoad Japjo

104 5196png [euossad o ,|NBYISA0 UR,, 104 Bul|ed ‘Mourowoy 104 358 3y paysyqnd

SSYQY ‘ZLO0T judy Ul "500Z U1 s1abpng jenpiapul uo ydueasss HQ jeutbiio ays asuis
1uauiold usag asey s4aJed 11u] pue ajdoad Japjo 10y Sg4 BuIISILOI SDNSS|

‘(58d) s1abpng |euosiad WOy {aMm s114ausg dnolb siy) ains
2euws 1SNW SAA TS50 JaA0 BYl U 5200 suniipuadxe saUBs jeidos Y npe jo led 1sabig|
3yl PuUe 2481 |B1J0S }Npe o $435n 1o uotuodold 1sabiel ayl wuoy ajdoad Jep|o




Page 33

Annex C

% think local
w4 act personal

Challenges and examples of emerging positive practice

(continued...)

Lack of market development, including
existing contracts that constrain creativity,
people buying what they bought before
and difficulties commissioning smaller
packages with providers unwilling to
support at lower costs.

* Some councils are commissioning support
from specific organisations through spot
contracts while others are remodelling
individual service funds that supports more
direct relationships between providers and the
older person.

* Reorganising in house supports to better
support people with managed personal
budgets has been found to a helpful approach,
as too paying attention to workforce supply
and suitability e.g. personal assistant registers
and apprenticeship schemes, and expanding
involvement of third party support agencies.

A focus on helping people stay safe

* Some councils are coordinating safeguarding
and information teams.

¢ Others are focusing on risk enablement
systems.

00000 Y

Next steps

The full review will be published shortly on
www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk.

From October 2012 to March 2013, we will focus
on drawing out the promising approaches to tackle
the challenges highlighted. That's where we need your
help. If you're one of the councils making good progress
in implementing personal budgets for older people or
a provider, support agency or user/carer organisation
making a difference in this area, please get in touch
thinklocalactpersonal@scie.org.uk .

We will be commissioning further work around
some of the specific elements of positive practice,
with a specific emphasis on cost effective and

sustainable approaches. This will become the basis for
recommendations to central and local government
and others to improve results for older people. These
recommendations will place personal budgets firmly in
the context of other elements of systems and practices
to support the health and well being of older people.

We'll develop recommendations for
implementation by national and local government so
that in 2013/14, we can move zhead with sharing this
practice regionally and nationally.

L e

~Q think local
¢\~ act personal

Contact us

Think Local Act Personal

Fifth floor

2-4 Cackspur Street,

London SW1Y 5DH

Telephone: +44 (0)20 7024 7746
email: thinklocalactpersonal@scie.org.uk
www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk

social care
institute for excellence




Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 35

York Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Personalisation Review

Summary of issues raised during workshops
May 2013

Introduction

As part of the Heath Overview and Scrutiny review into Personalisation, Tricia
Nicoll Consulting was commissioned to facilitate two workshops for people who
use services and family carers and other people involved in the Personalisation
agenda. These were held on 23rd April 2013 at the City of York Council West
Offices. The aim of the workshops was to offer participants the chance to share
their views and experiences of how Personalisation and self-directed support is
working in York and to offer suggestions for what needs to change. 15 people
attended the first workshop and 9 people attended the second workshop.

The workshops used the Think Local Act Personal Making it Real markers for
progress (www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/MIR) as a framework:

1. Information and advice: having the information | need, when | need it
Active and supportive communities: keeping friends, family and place
Flexible integrated care and support: my support, my own way
Workforce: my support staff

Risk enablement: feeling in control and safe

Personal budgets and self-funding: my money

2

For each of these markers, participants were asked to consider;
*  What is working well at the moment in York?

*  What is not working so well at the moment in York?

*  What needs to change?

There is a photographic report of both events available, showing people’s
responses across all the markers. This report is a summary of the issues.



Page 36

Information and advice: having the information | need, when |

need it

« | have the information and support | need in order to remain as independent
as possible

« | have access to easy-to-understand information about care and support
which is consistent, accurate, accessible and up to date

« | can speak to people who know something about care and support and can
make things happen

« | have help to make informed choices if | need and want it
+ | know where to get information about what is going on in my community

What’s working well at the moment in York?

People were particularly happy with the information and support provided by the
Independent Living Scheme (ILS) and by the Community Facilitators, both of
whom were seen as extremely valuable resources. There was complete support
for the theory behind Personalisation and self-directed support and how this is
articulated by City of York through My Life My Choice. People talked about getting
good information from other people who use services and family carers and from
user-led groups such as Lives Unlimited.

What’s not working so well at the moment in York?

Participants felt that the knowledge of staff within the Council is patchy and that
organisations and services do not always share information; ‘if | walked into West
Offices and asked about Personalisation and how I could get information, what
would happen?’ People talked about not knowing where to go for information,
about needing to ask for rather than automatically receiving it, about a reliance on
families and loved ones to source the information they need, and about language
being confusing (individual budget, personal budget, Direct Payment,
Personalisation). People questioned the ‘buy in’ from some staff about
Personalisation as a way of thinking and working, and, in particular cited the
experience of older people and people living with mental health issues; do they
get the right message about Personalisation? Participants wanted to see more
sharing of stories of people’s experience of self-directed support - how things can
be different.

Participants’ ideas about what needs to change:

® Care Managers are kept up to date with personal budgets

® Ensure social services staff understand about Personalisation
® Promote/sell Personalisation as the ‘the way’



Page 37

® The public to have/be equal stakeholders in decision making. Consultation to
be taken seriously

® Prepare a comprehensive database in partnership with Healthwatch
Better transition support from children’s to adult services

® Information is accessible (we all know what we mean by that - recognisable
standards)

®

Active and supportive communities: keeping friends, family and

place

« | have access to a range of support that helps me to live the life | want and
remain a contributing member of my community

« | have a network of people who support me - carers, family, friends,
community and if needed paid support staff

« | have opportunities to train, study, work or engage in activities that match my
interests, skKills, abilities

« | feel welcomed and included in my local community
- | feel valued for the contribution that | can make to my community

What’s working well at the moment in York?

Everyone talked about how self-directed support and personal budgets have given
them the chance to live ordinary lives and be involved in their communities, with
access to live, learn and progress at their own pace, supported by family and
friends.

A specific comment was made about how getting support from personal assistants
had ‘set boundaries’ in the person’s relationship with their family and enabled
them to become a mother/friend again. Another participant talked about how it
had, ‘lifted worry about my mother’s wellbeing’.

What’s not working so well at the moment in York?

Several participants felt that social isolation is still a problem. They shared
practical problems, e.g. with the way transport is organised in the city (focused on
into and out of the centre rather than on more circular routes) and in the
accessibility of buildings - including availability of changing places. Participants
also noted a more fundamental issue about how we view older and disabled
people and acknowledge the skills and knowledge people bring to their
communities; moving from a deficit focus to an asset-based approach requires
more investment than currently exists in community support systems, e.g. time-
banking.



Page 38

Participants’ ideas about what needs to change:
® Care Management could work in creative ways - in area teams

® The Police are able to support people experiencing hate crime to stop it
happening. Reporting a hate crime is easy

® More creative use of volunteers in communities - tackling social isolation etc
® All agencies work together to make York a welcoming place for all citizens

® Society - people’s views need to change and reduce ignorance

® | feel part of my community and play an active role in it

®

Neighbourhood based teams - with other departments as well as health,
developing community care/enabling networks

Flexible integrated care and support: my support, my own way

» lam in control of planning my care and support
« | have care and support that is directed by me and responsive to my needs

+ My support is coordinated, cooperative and works well together and | know
who to contact to get things changed

« | have a clear line of communication, action and follow-up

What’s working well at the moment in York?

Participants talked about the importance of being genuinely in control of choosing
support staff (for themselves or for a loved one) and how the self-directed support
process has enabled this to happen. Support from personal assistants has
enabled people to get support that is more flexible, is from people who share the
same interests and who facilitate greater independence and a, ‘better quality of
life’

The role of ILS in supporting people to put together a job description, advertise
and recruit for personal assistants was really appreciated.

What’s not working so well at the moment in York?

The biggest issue people brought was, ‘the gap between rhetoric and reality’.
Participants all shared examples of issues with the end to end process of self-
directed support; assessment taking a long time, support plans being completed
by a worker and issues around changing eligibility and charging; ‘the process of
getting a personal budget/Direct Payment was frustrating and challenging’.

Participants reported a specific issue in mental health services with people not
being offered the opportunity to know their personal budget; ‘no one understands
the system and people get passed round and around’.



Page 39

Some people felt that they were not allowed to make their own decisions about
the support they get and that they had a, feeling of no choice or control’. Some
people said that they could not find the right person to speak to about getting the
support they want.

People talked about the need for good support in the self-directed support
process; ‘impartial, independent brokerage and support planning’and some
people felt there was an over reliance on the role of a supportive family,
particularly if someone has complex and complicated needs.

Some participants talked about the lack of a varied marketplace to choose
services from.

Participants’ ideas about what needs to change:

® Ensure support plans promote recovery and independence and reduce
reliance: improve their quality

® Offer choice, e.g. Brokerage or training to manage own budget - not just ILS

® Allow Care Managers responsibility and flexibility - they know the family don’t
they?

Workforce: my support staft

« | have good information and advice on the range of options for choosing my
support staff

* | have considerate support delivered by competent people

« | have access to a pool of people, advice on how to employ them and the
opportunity to get advice from my peers

- | am supported by people who help me to make links in my local community

What’s working well at the moment in York?

Again, the importance of being able to directly employ personal assistants was
seen as central to Personalisation and self-directed support, and the role of ILS in
supporting people through the employment process was really appreciated.
Participants talked about getting continuity, flexibility and more person-centered
support through personal assistants.

What’s not working so well at the moment in York?

The main issue participants shared was the difference in the experience of people
who are not managing their own budget and who are using Council managed or
agency staff; ‘there is limited choice if you are not managing your own budget’. In



Page 40

particular, people talked about the inflexibility of Home Care shift patterns and of
support being very task focused; ‘washed .... Fed ... you’re done’. People also felt
frustrated when they did have good support from an agency and then the rules
appeared to change about what tasks carers could carry out.

Another key issue for people was the limited range of formal peer support in York;
peer support is valuable but there is not enough’.

Some people felt that there was little support around employment issues for
personal assistants.

Some people were concerned that, if they were successful in using self-directed
support then their budget would be cut.

Participants’ ideas about what needs to change:
® Support planning cafe - open to the public

® Set up a support network for individual employers to support and share
experiences

Nothing about us without us
Things to be user-led and support to be user-decided
Underpin everything with the social model of disability

Create simple contracts/structures to facilitate creative carer/personal
assistant working

Care agencies get contracts based on quality of care, not just based on the
cheapest

@ Training, supervision and team leading for personal assistants should be
included in budgets

® Providing care is seen as a vocation and is celebrated

® Before embarking on employing personal assistants, training and support
manual given to the person/main support/family member

® Forum or lobby a service group to promote Personalisation and share
experiences

® Set up own personal assistants group of family members to collectively
manage our budgets

® Positively support and fund user-led organisations to give information and
support to other people

®©® ® ®@ @®

®



Page 41

Risk enablement: feeling in control and safe

« I can plan ahead and keep control in a crisis
- | feel safe, I can live the life | want and | am supported to manage any risks

- | feel that my community is a safe place to live and local people look out for
me and each other

« | have systems in place so that | can get help at an early stage to avoid a
Crisis

What’s working well at the moment in York?

Participants reflected that the framework of self-directed support enables
everyone to take a more practical and pragmatic approach to risk and accept that,
‘being in control is about being ordinary and sometimes things go wrong'’.

What’s not working so well at the moment in York?

People talked about having to, ‘wait until its too late’ before things got changed,
and of a feeling that, ‘City of York Council don’t want Personalisation to work - too
costly?’. Some people shared an anxiety about support from personal assistants;
‘great when all in place but who can help when it goes wrong? What is my back-
up support system?’There was a sense of a huge time commitment and
contribution from wider family and other networks in ensuring plans are
successful.

People brought specific examples of not feeling safe at home or in their local
community and people agreed that, ‘we need to tackle disability hate crimes to
allow me to feel safe...’.

There were no suggestions about what needs to change.

Personalisation and self-funding: my money

« | can decide the kind of support | need and when, where and how to receive it

- | know the amount of money available to me for care and support needs, and
I can determine how this is used (whether its my own money, Direct Payment,
or a Council managed personal budget)

« | can get access to the money quickly without having to go through over-
complicated procedures

« | am able to get skilled advice to plan my care and support, and also be given
help to understand costs and make best use of the money involved where |
want and need this



Page 42

What’s working well at the moment in York?

Participants appreciated the principles of Personalisation and that Direct
Payments and personal assistants give people more independence. One person
reflected that, ‘the flexible use of Direct Payments allows me to employ personal
assistants to help me in work’.

What’s not working so well at the moment in York?

Participants had many concerns about the process of assessment and calculating
an indicative budget, the result of which people felt varied depending on who
supported the assessment process; ‘assessments and the process of getting a
budget is traumatic.’and ‘It feels like a fight not a right - we all want it to work don’t
we?’

People talked about confusion over what personal budgets can be spent on.

Financial contributions were an issue, with some people not having the financial
assessment process explained to them. People also shared frustrations about the
lack of an independent appeals process if they were unhappy about their
indicative budget.

People felt that the unpicking of block contracts is an issue, with a reliance on
providers to lead this work, and there was a particular frustration at the lack of use
of individual service funds.

There are specific issues in mental health services, where people appear not to
be able to find out their indicative budget.

Participants’ ideas about what needs to change:

® Look at the hourly rate for Direct Payments - is it giving you full choice in who
you can employ (compared with agencies)?

Why is York Direct Payments rate lower than other local authorities?
Make better use of resources
Think about creative solutions, not default positions

Need an honest and open assessment process that families and everyone
understands

The process of getting a personal budget is easy and understandable
Person-centred review process

Centralised funding pot, i.e. Simplified

Support voluntary sector to transform into fee-paying providers

®©@ ® ®@ @®

®©@ ® ®@ @©

Tricia Nicoll
Tricia@tricianicoll.com



Page 43

_—- in i Control

The POET Survey

City of York Council Data Report:
December 2012

Personal budget recipients

Introduction

This report presents data collected from personal budget holders in the City of York using the POET
survey tool. It also compares the numerical responses of personal budget holders to the POET survey
in the City of York with the responses we have from personal budget holders in other parts of
England.

Who took part in the survey?

In total, 34 personal budget holders in the City of York completed the POET survey. We are able to
benchmark the City of York data against responses from 1,114 personal budget holders in other
parts of England. As people could choose not to complete particular questions within the survey, the
totals reported throughout the report are unlikely to add up to these overall totals.

The graphs in figures 1 to 6 show the characteristics of the City of York personal budget holders
responding to the survey compared to respondents from other local authorities in England. City of
York respondents were more likely to be female, they were more likely to be aged under 45 years of
age, and more likely to report having a physical disability or health condition. City of York
respondents were significantly less diverse than other respondents in terms of ethnicity and religion,
and were more likely to report their sexual orientation.



Page 44

National

City of York

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

B Male ®Female

Figure 1. Personal budget recipients: Gender

National 75
City of York
0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%
EQlder than 65 years old E55 to 64 years old W45 to 54 years old
W35 to 44 years old 25 t0 34 years old 16 to 24 years old

Figure 2. Personal budget recipients: Age



Page 45

Health Condition

Leamning Disability

Mental Health City of York
_ H National

Sensory Impairment #
Physical Disability m

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Figure 3. Personal budget recipients: Disability

City of York

National

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

National City of York
B Any White 831 33
EMixed 10 1
B Asian/Asian British 54 0
EBlack,B.British 55 0
Chinese,Other 13 0
No Info 151 0

Figure 4. Personal budget recipients: Ethnicity




| | |
City of York
| | |
National ‘
| | |
0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%
National City of York

BNo information 180 3
HNo religion 153 7
mAny other religion 38 2
ESikh 10 0
B Muslim 42 0
HJewish 5 0
Hindu 12 0
Buddhist 8 0
Christian 666 22

Figure 5. Personal budget recipients: Religion

National 275

City of York 6

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

B Heterosexual/Straight B Other No information

Figure 6. Personal budget recipients: Sexuality



Page 47

How did people answer the questions?

The graph below shows how people answered the questions in the POET survey. In the City of York
approximately 35% of personal budget holders answered the questions on their own, with all other
respondents having help from someone else.

National 135

City of York

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

HOnmy Own B \With help from someone else

H Meeting Interview Someone else answered

Figure 7. Personal budget recipients: How people answered the questions

How long have people held a personal budget?

The graph below shows the length of time that personal budget holders had held their personal
budget. For personal budget holders in the City of York, a similar percentage of people had been
using their budgets for three years or longer compared to people in other parts of England, with a
higher proportion locally holding their budget for between one and three years.

National 249
City of York 8
0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%
M| essthan ayear  BBetween 1 and 3 years More than 3 years

Figure 8. Personal budget recipients: How long have people held a personal budget?



Page 48

Did people get local authority support before their personal budget?

The graph below shows how many personal budget holders had been receiving local authority
support before they got their personal budget. For personal budget holders in the City of York
approximately 60% of personal budget holders had been receiving local authority support before
their personal budget; a slightly lower figure than that for personal budget holders in other parts of

England.
National 336
City of York 13
0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

HYes ENo

Figure 9. Personal budget recipients: Did people get local authority support before their personal
budget?

How do people manage their personal budgets?

The graph in figure 10 shows how people managed their personal budgets. In the City of York,
personal budget holders were most likely (44%) to have a direct payment paid directly to them.
Direct payments looked after by someone else were also reported by 22% of personal budget
holders in the City of York. Significantly more personal budget holders in the City of York reported
using an individual service fund when compared to elsewhere in England. A lower proportion of
personal budget holders in the City of York reported that they did not know whether they had a
personal budget or not.



Page 49

Individual service fund -

Managed PB

Looked after DP
. City of York

DP into own bank account " National
Ido not have a personal budget ]
Ido not know

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Figure 10. Personal budget recipients: How was the personal budget managed?

The level of personal budgets and support for planning

The POET survey asked personal budget holders whether they were told the weekly amount of their
personal budget and whether they could provide an estimate of the amount. The survey also asked a
range of questions about how people were supported when planning their personal budget, and
whether their views were included in the personal budget support plan.

Over two thirds of the City of York personal budget recipients (68%) said they had been told the
amount of money in their personal budget, a lower figure than personal budget holders in other
parts of England (77%).

National
City of York

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

HYes HNo

Figure 11. Personal budget recipients: Have you been told how much your support costs each week?



Page 50

The graph below shows whether personal budget holders reported getting help to plan their
personal budget. Nearly 77% of personal budget holders in the City of York reported that they had
received help to plan their personal budget, a slightly lower proportion than personal budget holders
in other parts of England.

Secondly, the graph below shows who helped people to plan their personal budgets. In the City of
York, the most common sources of support were help from someone from the council (46%) and
from family/friends (33%).

Help from family/friends
Help from NHS

Help from council
City of York

Help from other person H National

Help to plan PB

|1

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Figure 12. Personal budget recipients: planning support

Finally, the graph below summarises whether personal budget holders felt their views were fully
included in the support plan for their personal budget or not. In the City of York, just over 91% of
personal budget holders felt their views were very much or mostly included in their support plan,
slightly higher figures as for personal budget holders in other parts of England.

National
City of York
0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%
BNo, notatall HMNo, notreally MA little Yes, mostly Yes, very much

Figure 13. Personal budget recipients: Were your views fully included in support plan?

8



Page 51

The role of the council in supporting personal budgets

As the graph below reports, the POET survey asked several questions about how the council was
performing throughout the personal budget process.

A majority of personal budget holders in the City of York reported that the council had made things
easy for them in six of the nine aspects of the personal budget process we asked about; getting
advice and support, assessing needs, understanding restrictions, control of money, planning and
managing support, and making views known and making a complaint.

As was the case nationally, the areas we asked about that respondents in the City of York were least
likely to report as easy was choosing different services.

In only one of the nine areas, personal budget holders in the City of York were less likely than people
elsewhere to report that the council made the process easy. This was getting the support wanted.

In the City of York, similar to elsewhere in England, approximately 12%-24% of personal budget
holders reported that the council had made things difficult for all nine aspects of the personal
budget process we asked about. Approximately 24% said it was difficult to make views known and
make a complaint and have control of money.

National complain
City of York

National choose differentservices
City of York

National change your support
City of York

National get the support you want
City of York

National plan and manage your support
City of York

National control money
City of York

National understand restriction
City of York

National assess needs
City of York

National Information, advice and support
City of York

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%

W Verydifficult M Difficult M Noteasy or difficult M Easy M VeryEasy

Figure 14. How easy was the personal budget process?

100%



Page 52

Have personal budgets made a difference to people’s lives?

The POET survey asks personal budget holders whether their personal budgets have made a
difference to various aspects of their lives, and if so whether this difference has been positive or
negative.

The graph below summarises the findings from the set of questions we asked for personal budget
holders. At least 60% of personal budget holders in the City of York reported that their personal
budget had made a positive difference to them in nine of the 14 outcome areas we asked about;
dignity in support, mental wellbeing, getting the support you need, feeling safe, staying
independent, control of support, physical health, control of important things in life and relationships
with paid support. A majority of people reported that the personal budget had had a positive impact
on their lives in one further area. However in the areas of getting a paid job, less than 17% reported
a positive impact.

With the exceptions of relationships with family, relationships with friends and dignity in support,
personal budget holders in the City of York were more likely to report that their personal budget had
had a positive impact compared to personal budget holders in other parts of England.

A majority of personal budget holders in the City of York reported that personal budgets had made
no difference in four areas of life: getting a paid job, being part of local community, where or who
you live with and relationships with friends.

However, generally less than 12% of personal budget holders in the City of York reported a negative
impact of personal budgets in any of these areas of life.

10



Page 53

11

él1e 1e s3uiyl asayy padueyd 1938png |euossad JnoA seH 'GT 24n314

SEME]
1199 10| e s3uiyl ape|\ | 42129 s3ulyi apeiN | 22uaJayyip Aue spew 10N W 9sJom s3ulyl apeN

%001 %06 %08 9
6 %0L %09 %05 %0V %0€ %0¢C %0T %0

95J0M 10| e s3ulyl ape|\

3404 Jo Aid
yieay [edrshyd [euonen

Y404 Jo Aud
Sulag-||am [e3UdN

3J0A Jo A1
9J1] ul s8ulyy uersodwiijonuo) [euonen

404 J0 Aud
1uapuadapul SulAelrs |euonen

3J0A Jo A1
uoddns jo |0J1u0) |euoileN

M40 Jo AuD
1Joddns Sumay |euonen

404 Jo Aud
woddns ul Ajludiq |euoneN

3404 Jo Awd
ajes Sul994 |euoneN

3J0A J0 A1)
uoddns pied sdiysuone|ay |euonen

A40A Jo Ad
Allwe4 sdiysuone|ay |euonen

3J0A Jo A1)
spualiy sdiysuone|ay [euonen

3404 Jo Aid
UM 3AI| NOA OYM 10 313YA\ [eUOlEN

Y404 Jo Aud
Ajlunwwod [ed0]| Jo 1ed [euonen

404 jo Ao
qof pied e Sumao |euonen



Page 54

Conclusion

Throughout this report local findings have been benchmarked against national data. This is intended
to provide an indicative relative position. Care should be taken however when making precise direct
comparisons. This is because responses varied greatly across local authorities, levels of satisfaction
being spread across a wide range, the national figures here are averages of these ranges. Responses
also varied somewhat across social care groups and across personal budget types, proportions of
these sub groups varied from local authority to local authority. Itis not necessarily the case that
where scores indicate a less or more positive impact of personal budgets than in other parts of
England that this is due to the performance of the council. The National Personal Budget Survey
found and reported a number of key process conditions that coincided with better or worse
outcomes. Where local performance appears to be low these process factors may be at play, and
provide a steer where local authorities are seeking to improve in an outcome domain.

http://www.in-control.org.uk/4466.aspx

12



Page 55

«b)
§ S

qe)

)

qe)
1

&)
@)
Ca)




Page 56




1) Abuse

2) Adult social
care

3) Advocacy

4) Aids and
adaptations

5) Assessment
See also:
Pre-assessment
Self-assessment

6) Benefits

Page 57

Harm that is caused by anyone who has power over another person,
which may include family members, friends, unpaid carers and health or social
care workers. It can take various forms, including physical harm or neglect,
and verbal, emotional or sexual abuse. Adults at risk can also be the victim of
financial abuse from people they trust. Abuse may be carried out by
individuals or by the organisation that employs them.

Care and support for adults who need extra help to manage their lives and be
independent — including older people, people with a disability or long-term
illness, people with mental health problems, and carers. Adult social care
includes assessment of people’s needs, provision of services or allocation of
funds to enable you to purchase your own care and support. It includes
residential care, home care, personal assistants, day services, the provision of
aids and adaptations and personal budgets.

Help to enable you to get the care and support you need that is independent
of your local council. An advocate can help you express your needs and
wishes, and weigh up and take decisions about the options available to you.
They can help you find services, make sure correct procedures are followed
and challenge decisions made by councils or other organisations.

The advocate is there to represent your interests, which they can do by
supporting you to speak, or by speaking on your behalf. They do not speak
for the council or any other organisation. If you wish to speak up for yourself
to make your needs and wishes heard, this is known as self-advocacy.

Help to make things easier for you around the home. If you are struggling or
disabled, you may need special equipment to enable you to live more
comfortably and independently. You may also need changes to your home to
make it easier and safer to get around. Aids and adaptations include things
like grab rails, ramps, walk-in showers and stair-lifts.

The process of working out what your needs are. A community care assessment
looks at how you are managing everyday activities such as looking after
yourself, household tasks and getting out and about. You are entitled to an
assessment if you have social care needs, and your views are central to this process.

Payments from the Government that you may receive because of your
age, disability, income or caring responsibilities. Some benefits are
universal — paid to everyone regardless of their income. Others are paid to
people who have particular types of needs, regardless of their income. And
others are means-tested — only paid to people whose income or savings fall
below a certain level. Benefits in England are paid by the Department of Work
and Pensions, not your local council.



7) Broker
(also called
‘care navigator’)
See also:
Advocacy
Signposting

8) Care plan
See also:
Support plan

9) Carer

10) Care Worker

11) Client
contribution
See also:
Self-funding

12) Client group

13) Commissioner

14) Community
care services

15) Community
health services

Page 58

Someone whose job it is to provide you with advice and information about
what services are available in your area, so that you can choose to purchase
the care and support that best meets your needs. They can also help you
think about different ways that you can get support, for example by making
arrangements with friends and family. A broker can help you think about
what you need, find services and work out the cost. Brokerage can be
provided by local councils, voluntary organisations or private companies.

A written plan after you have had an assessment, setting out what your care
and support needs are, how they will be met (including what you or anyone
who cares for you will do) and what services you will receive. You should have
the opportunity to be fully involved in the plan and to say what your own
priorities are. If you are in a care home or attend a day service, the plan for
your daily care may also be called a care plan.

A person who provides unpaid support to a partner, family member, friend
or neighbour who is ill, struggling or disabled and could not manage without
this help. This is distinct from a care worker, who is paid to support people.

A person who is paid to support someone who is ill, struggling or
disabled and could not manage without this help.

The amount you may need to pay towards the cost of the social care services
you receive. Whether you need to pay, and the amount you need to pay,
depends on your local council’s charging policy, although residential care
charges are set nationally. Councils receive guidance from the Government

on how much they can charge.

A group of people with social care needs who fit within a broad single
category. Client groups include older people, people with physical disability,
people with learning disability, people with mental health problems, and so on.

A person or organisation that plans the services that are needed by the
people who live in the area the organisation covers, and ensures that
services are available. Sometimes the commissioner will pay for services,

but not always. Your local council is the commissioner for adult social care.
NHS care is commissioned separately by local clinical commissioning groups.
In many areas health and social care commissioners’ work together to make
sure that the right services are in place for the local population.

Social care services that can help you live a full, independent life and to
remain in your own home for as long as possible.

Health services that are provided outside hospitals, such as district nursing.



16) Continuing
health care

17) Co-production

18) Direct
payments
See also:
Personal budget

19) Eligibility

20) Home care

21) Independent
living

22) Integrated
Care

Page 59

Ongoing care outside hospital for someone who is ill or disabled,
arranged and funded by the NHS. This type of care can be provided
anywhere, and can include the full cost of a place in a nursing home.
It is provided when your need for day to day support is mostly due to
your need for health care, rather than social care. The Government has
issued guidance to the NHS on how people should be assessed for
continuing health care, and who is entitled to receive it.

When you as an individual are involved as an equal partner in
designing the support and services you receive. Co-production recognises
that people who use social care services (and their families) have knowledge
and experience that can be used to help make services better, not only for
themselves but for other people who need social care.

Money that is paid to you (or someone acting on your behalf) on a
regular basis by your local council so you can arrange your own
support, instead of receiving social care services arranged by the council.
Direct payments are available to people who have been assessed as being
eligible for council-funded social care. They are not yet available for
residential care. This is one type of personal budget.

When your needs meet your council’s criteria for council-funded care
and support. Your local council decides who should get support, based on
your level of need and the resources available in your area. The eligibility
threshold is the level at which your needs reach the point that your council
will provide funding. If the council assesses your needs and decides they are
below this threshold, you will not qualify for council-funded care.

Care provided in your own home by paid care workers to help you
with your daily life. It is also known as domiciliary care. Home care
workers are usually employed by an independent agency, and the service
may be arranged by your local council or by you (or someone acting on
your behalf).

The right to choose the way you live your life. It does not necessarily mean
living by yourself or doing everything for yourself. It means the right to
receive the assistance and support you need so you can participate in your
community and live the life you want.

Joined up, coordinated health and social care that is planned and
organised around the needs and preferences of the individual, their
carer and family. This may also involve integration with other services for
example housing.



23) Occupational
therapist

24) Older people

25) Outcomes

26) Personal

assistant

27) Personal
budget

28) Personalisation

29) Pre-assessment

Page 60

A professional with specialist training in working with people with
different types of disability or mental health needs. An OT can help you
learn new skills or regain lost skills, and can arrange for aids and adaptations
you need in your home. Occupational therapists are employed both by the
NHS and by local councils.

Older people are the largest group of people who use adult social
care services. Many councils define people over the age of 50 as
‘older’, but social care services for older people are usually for people
over the age of 65 — unless you have particular needs that make you
eligible before this age.

In social care, an ‘outcome’ refers to an aim or objective you would
like to achieve or need to happen — for example, continuing to live in
your own home, or being able to go out and about. You should be able
to say which outcomes are the most important to you, and receive support
to achieve them.

Someone you choose and employ to provide the support you need, in
the way that suits you best. This may include cooking, cleaning, help with
personal care such as washing and dressing, and other things such as getting
out and about in your community. Your personal assistant can be paid
through direct payments or a personal budget.

Money that is allocated to you by your local council to pay for care or
support to meet your assessed needs. The money comes solely from adult
social care. You can take your personal budget as a direct payment, or
choose to leave the council to arrange services (sometimes known as a
managed budget) — or a combination of the two.

An alternative is an individual service fund, which is a personal budget that
a care provider manages on your behalf. A personal health budget may also
be available: it is a plan for your health care that you develop and control,
knowing how much NHS money is available.

A way of thinking about care and support services that puts you at the
centre of the process of working out what your needs are, choosing
what support you need and having control over your life. It is about you
as an individual, not about groups of people whose needs are assumed to be
similar, or about the needs of organisations.

The point at which you make contact with your local council and a
decision is made about whether a full assessment is necessary. This is based
on the information given by you or the person who refers you to adult social
care. It is often conducted over the phone.



30) Preventive
services

31) Primary care

32) Reablement

33) Referral

34) Residential
care

35) Resource
Allocation
System

36) Respite care

37) Review

Page 61

Services you may receive to prevent more serious problems developing. These
include things like reablement, telecare, befriending schemes and falls
prevention services. The aim is to help you stay independent and maintain
your quality of life, as well as to save money in the long term and avoid
admissions to hospital or residential care.

The part of the NHS that is the first point of contact for patients. This
includes GPs, community nurses, pharmacists and dentists.

A way of helping you remain independent, by giving you the opportunity
to relearn or regain some of the skills for daily living that may have been
lost as a result of illness, accident or disability. It is similar to rehabilitation,
which helps people recover from physical or mental illness. Your council may offer
a reablement service for a limited period in your own home that includes personal
care, help with activities of daily living, and practical tasks around the home.

A request for an assessment of a person’s needs, or for support from a
social care organisation. A referral to adult social care may be made by your
GP, another health professional or anyone else who supports you. You can
also refer yourself, or a member of your family, by contacting the adult social
care department at your local council.

Care in a care home, with or without nursing, for older people or people with
disabilities who require 24-hour care. Care homes offer trained staff and an
adapted environment suitable for the needs of ill, frail or disabled people.

The system some councils use to decide how much money people get for
their support. There are clear rules, so everyone can see that money is given
out fairly. Once your needs have been assessed, you will be allocated an
indicative budget — so that you know how much money you have to spend on
care and support. The purpose of an indicative budget is to help you plan the
care and support that will help you meet your assessed needs — it might not
be the final amount that you get, as you may find that it is not enough (or is
more than enough) to meet those needs.

A service giving carers a break, by providing short-term care for the
person with care needs in their own home or in a residential setting. It can
mean a few hours during the day or evening, ‘night sitting’, or a longer-term
break. It can also benefit the person with care needs by giving them the
chance to try new activities and meet new people.

When you receive a re-assessment of your needs and you and the
people in your life look at whether the services you are receiving are
meeting your needs and helping you achieve your chosen outcomes.
Changes can then be made if necessary.



38) Rights

39) Risk
assessment

40) Safeguarding

41) Self-
assessment
See also:
Pre-assessment

42) Self-directed
support
See also:
Personalisation

43) Self-funding

44) People who
use services

45) Signposting
See also:
Broker

Page 62

What you are entitled to receive, and how you should be treated, as a
citizen. If you have a disability or mental health problem, are an older person
or act as a carer for someone else, you have the right to have your needs
assessed by your local council. You have a right to a service or direct payment
if your assessment puts you above the eligibility threshold your council is
using. You and your carers have a right to be consulted about your
assessment and about any changes in the services you receive.

An assessment of your health, safety, wellbeing and ability to manage
your essential daily routines. You might also hear the term risk enablement,
which means finding a way of managing any risks effectively so that you can
still do the things you want to do.

The process of ensuring that adults at risk are not being abused, neglected
or exploited, and ensuring that people who are deemed ‘unsuitable’ do not
work with them. If you believe that you or someone you know is being abused,
you should let the adult social care department at your local council know. They
should carry out an investigation and put a protection plan in place if abuse is
happening. Councils have a duty to work with other organisations to protect
adults from abuse and neglect. They do this through local safeguarding boards.

A form or questionnaire that you complete yourself, either on paper or online,
explaining your circumstances and why you need support. A social care
worker or advocate can help you do this. If your council asks you to complete
a self-assessment form, it will use this information to decide if you are eligible
for social care services or if you need a full assessment by a social worker.

An approach to social care that puts you at the centre of the support
planning process, so that you can make choices about the services you receive.
It should help you feel in control of your care, so that it meets your needs as
an individual.

When you arrange and pay for your own care services and do not
receive financial help from the council.

Anyone who uses care services, whether you are in your own home, in

residential care or in hospital. The NHS is likely to describe you as a “patient’, while
the council and other care providers may also describe you as a ‘client’ or ‘service
user’. You may also be described as a ‘cared-for person’, in relation to your carer.

Pointing people in the direction of information that they should find useful.
Your local council should signpost you towards information about social care
and benefits through its helpline or call centre (if it has one), website and
through local services such as libraries and health centres.



46) Single
assessment
process

47) Social worker

48) Support plan

49) Telecare

50) Universal
services

51) Voluntary
organisations

52) Wellbeing

Page 63

An attempt to coordinate assessment and care planning across the NHS and
councils, so that procedures aren’t repeated and information is shared
appropriately. It was introduced because people sometimes have a wide
range of needs and can end up being assessed more often than necessary,
and information can end up getting lost. The single assessment process is
widely used for older people, and increasingly for other adults with care needs.

A professional who works with individual people and families to help
improve their lives by arranging to put in place the things they need.
This includes helping to protect adults and children from harm or abuse, and
supporting people to live independently. Social workers support people and
help them find the services they need. They may have a role as a care
manager, arranging care for service users. Many are employed by councils in
adult social care teams; others work in the NHS or independent organisations.

A plan you develop that says how you will spend your personal budget
to get the life you want. You need to map out your week, define the
outcomes you hope to achieve, and show how the money will be used to
make these happen. Your local council must agree the plan before it makes
money available to you.

Technology that enables you to remain independent and safe in your
own home, by linking your home with a monitoring centre that can respond
to problems. Examples are pendant alarms that you wear round your neck,
automatic pill dispensers, and sensors placed in your home to detect if you
have fallen or to recognise risks such as smoke, floods or gas-leaks. The monitoring
centre is staffed by trained operators who can arrange for someone to come
to your home or contact your family, doctor or emergency services.

Services such as transport, leisure, health and education that should be
available to everyone in a local area and are not dependent on assessment
or eligibility.

Organisations that are independent of the Government and local councils.
Their job is to benefit the people they serve, not to make a profit. The people
who work for voluntary organisations are not necessarily volunteers — many
will be paid for the work they do. Social care services are often provided by local
voluntary organisations, by arrangement with the council or with you as an
individual. Some are user-led organisations, which means they are run by and
for the people the organisation is designed to benefit — e.g. disabled people.

Being in a position where you have good physical and mental health,
control over your day-to-day life, good relationships, enough money,
and the opportunity to take part in the activities that interest you.



Page 64

Acknowledgements: Social Care Jargon Buster was commissioned by Think Local Act Personal
and undertaken by the Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE). We are very grateful for the
contribution of the project steering group including representatives from Association of Directors of
Adult Social Services, Age UK, Carers Trust, Department of Health, Independent Age, Local
Government Association, National Coproduction Advisory Group, Royal College of General
Practitioners, SCOPE and Voiceability.

We would also like to extend particular thanks to all those involved in the wider consultations
contributing to the development of this resource including people who use services, carers,
representatives from local authorities and key stakeholders from across the sector.




	Agenda
	
	3 Draft Interim Report - Personalisation Scrutiny Review.
	Annex A
	Annex B
	Annex C
	Annex D
	Annex E
	Annex F


